FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 6 1997

JOHNNIE L. NORTON,

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

Appellant,

Chief Doperty Clerk

VS.

Case No. 88,803

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0234176

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. 0. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal herein contains 14 volumes and one supplemental volume. References in this brief to the record shall be made by indicating the appropriate volume and page number, pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.210(b)(3). References to specific exhibits shall be made by referring to the exhibit numbers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 23, 1994, **a** Hillsborough County grand jury returned an indictment against Appellant, Johnnie Lewis Norton, charging him with the premeditated murder of Lillie Effic Thornton by shooting her with a firearm on November 3, 1994. (Vol. I, pp. 29-30)

Among the pretrial motions Appellant filed were motions to suppress evidence seized in an illegal search and seizure (Vol. I, pp. 98-104) and to suppress confession or statements illegally obtained (Vol. I, pp. 105-111), an amendment to which was subsequently filed. (Vol. II, pp. 247-248) A suppression hearing was held before the Honorable Robert J. Simms on April 24, 1995. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1234-1348) The court denied the motions, except for certain post-arrest statements Appellant made to Detective Rick Childers at the police station after Appellant had asked for a lawyer. (Vol. II, pp. 291, 297; Vol. XIII, pp.1272-1278, 1291-1292, 1310-1312, 1339-1340) The court found that these statements were obtained in violation of Miranda, but were voluntary. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1310-1312)

In another pretrial motion, filed on January 8, 1996, Appellant moved in limine, primarily seeking to exclude from the penalty phase, if there was one, certain evidence regarding an assault against a woman named Rosa Mae Warmack. (Vol. II, pp. 319-

^{&#}x27; At Appellant's trial, the defense lodged no objections to admission of the evidence that was the subject of the motions to suppress.

322) The court heard the motion on March 1, 1996, and denied it. (Vol. XI, pp. 1034-1039)

This cause proceeded to a jury trial on February 26-March 1 and March 4, 1996, with the Honorable J. Rogers Padgett presiding. (Vol. IV, p. 1-Vol. XII, p.1172) On March 1, 1996, Appellant's jury found him guilty of first degree murder, as charged. (Vol. II, p. 356, Vol. XI, p. 1026) At the penalty phase held on March 4, 1996, the jury received additional evidence from the State and the defense, and returned a recommendation by a vote of eight to four that Appellant be sentenced to die in the electric chair. (Vol. II, p. 373, Vol. XII, pp. 1044-1171)

On March 11, 1996, Appellant, through counsel, filed a Motion to Override Jury's Death Recommendation or to Grant the Defendant a New Penalty Phase Hearing with a New Jury (Vol. III, pp. 379-381), which the court heard and denied, also on March 11. (Vol. III, p. 381, Supplemental Vol., pp. 2-7)

Appellant filed a Motion for New Trial on March 13, 1996 (Vol. III, pp. 382-386), which the court heard and denied before sentencing Appellant on March 18, 1996. (Vol. III, p. 382, Vol. XIII pp. 1173-1187) Judge Padgett sentenced Appellant to death, finding a single aggravating circumstance, that Appellant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person. (Vol. III, pp. 395, 398-401, Vol. XIII, p. 1187) After reciting the evidence offered in mitigation, which the court found to be "unrefuted," the court concluded that there was "nothing substantial or extraordinary about the mitigating facts,"

and that no statutory or nonstatutory mitigating factors had been shown to exist. (Vol. III, pp. 399-400)

Appellant filed a pro <u>se</u> notice of appeal on March 27, 1996 (Vol. III, p. 403), which was followed by **a** notice filed by counsel on April 8, 1996 (Vol. III, pp. 404-405), and an amended notice filed by counsel on July 2, 1996. (Vol. III, p. 413)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase--State's Case

In November of 1994, Lillie Thornton was living at the Jackson Heights Apartments with her four daughters. (Vol. VI, pp. 251, 272-273) Johnny Seay, Thornton's boyfriend or ex-boyfriend, lived there off and on. (Vol. VI, pp. 251, 268-270, 279-280) Seay and Thornton had a good relationship for about five years, but they had their "ups and downs," their "little run-ins." (Vol. VI, p. 280)² Thornton was also seeing Appellant at around the same time she was seeing Seay. (Vol. VI, pp. 251-252, 256, 262, 270-271, 279-280) If Thornton needed a ride somewhere, Appellant was the person she would ask. (Vol. VI, p. 262)

On November 2, around noon, Thornton left with Appellant in his little gray car (which she rode in a lot) to go pay some bills; she had just received some kind of monthly check. (Vol. VI, pp. 257, 262, 273-275, 281) Johnny Seay testified that he was not upset with Thornton about anything that day. (Vol. VI, p. 282)

Thornton did not come home all night. (Vol. VI, pp. 252-256, 273-276) Although she would stay out sometimes, Thornton usually called if she was going to be very late, or out all night, but she

² Prior to the beginning of testimony, the State moved in limine to exclude evidence of an incident that occurred six months before the homicide in which the Lillie Thornton hit Johnny Seay in the head with a telephone and was arrested for domestic battery. (Vol. VI, pp. 217-221) The court ruled that this evidence could not come in unless the defense had other evidence linking Seay to the killing. (Vol. VI, pp. 220-221) Appellant sought to question Seay about this on cross-examination, believing that the door had been opened, but the court would not permit it. (Vol. VI, pp. 284-285)

did not call after she left the apartment at noon. (Vol. VI, pp. 254-255, 262, 275-276, 281-282)

Star Thornton, Lillie's 13 year old daughter, had ridden in Appellant's little gray car several times. (Vol. VI, pp. 257, 266) The last time was around October 22 when mother and daughter went to order some birthday cakes. (Vol. VI, pp. 258-260) The car was in good condition, with light gray carpeting on the floors. (Vol. VI, pp. 257-260)

Sometime before 7:00 the next morning, November 3, Lillie Thornton's body was found in a field in Tampa near 30th Street and 38th Avenue where people went to dump trash, drop off stolen cars, have sex, and do drugs. (Vol. VI, pp. 287, 289-290, 296-297, 314-316)³ There were no signs of a struggle at the scene. (Vol. VII, p. 443; Vol. IX, pp. 683, 716) There was a tire track on the back of Thornton's right pant leg. (Vol. VI, pp. 293, 308; Vol. VII, pp. 351, 448; Vol. IX, pp. 682-685) Two cubes of crack cocaine were found in her bra. (Vol. VII, p. 449, Vol. IX, p. 715)

Various items of potential evidentiary value were gathered at the scene, including photographs and plaster casts of tire tracks and shoeprints. (Vol. VII, pp. 378-383, 385-387, 389-390; Vol. VIII, pp. 574-588)

Associate Medical Examiner Dr. Robert Pfalzgraf examined the body in the field that morning, and conducted an autopsy that afternoon. (Vol. VII, pp. 441-442, 445) Lillie Thornton died from

³ Johnny Seay, when he was not staying at Lillie Thornton's residence, lived right around the corner from where her body was found. (Vol VI, pp. 282-283; Vol. IX, pp. 731-732)

a gunshot wound to the back of the head. (Vol. VII, pp. 446-447) Thornton would have been unconscious immediately after being shot, and dead within a few seconds or, at most, a few minutes. The bullet did not exit her body, but embedded in VII, p. 452) part of the skull. (Vol. VII, p. 447) Pfalzgraf was able to remove the lead core and the jacket, which he transferred to Detective Bell of the Tampa Police Department. (Vol. VII, pp. 447-448) was no stippling of the wound, and the gun was probably at least 18 inches away and level with Thornton's head when it was fired. (Vol. VII, pp. 454-457) There were no other injuries, including defensive wounds, on the body. (Vol. VII, pp. 445-446) bruising to Thornton's leg indicated that she had been run over, or partially run over, by the tire of a car after she was dead. (Vol. VII, pp. 448-449) Pfalzgraf's toxicological examination showed that Thornton had metabolites of cocaine in her blood, which indicated cocaine use within the previous two or three days, as well as cocaine in her urine, which indicated cocaine use within the previous 12 hours. (Vol. VII, pp. 449-450)

**Rim McDonald had known Lillie Thornton, but not her name, for a couple of months before she died; McDonald knew her as "Slim." (Vol. VI, pp. 323-324) She did not know "Slim" very well, but had seen her about six or seven times in the same area. (Vol. VI, pp.

In the State's forensic firearms expert, Dominic Denio, testified that, in this case, he could not form an opinion as to how far away the gun had to be to avoid stippling, because the victim's hair would have prevented "the unburnt gunpowder particles reaching the skin with sufficient speed or force to cause" stippling. (Vol. VII, p. 428)

333-334) McDonald had also known Appellant "for numerous of years, " about five or six, but did not know his last name until she asked someone after Thornton's body was found. (Vol. VI, pp. 324, 330-331, 335-336) McDonald last saw Thornton alive between 10:30 and 11:00 on the night before he body was found. (Vol. VI, pp. 325, 329) Thornton got out of Appellant's car, which was parked on 29th in front of a clothing store called "Gator's," while Appellant remained in the vehicle, (Vol. VI, pp. 326-327) Thornton went into the "dust bowl," which was "a place where people h[u]ng out in the back." (Vol. VI, pp. 327-328) There, McDonald, who was familiar with street-level drugs sales in that area, saw a "hand to hand" that "was like a transaction." (Vol. VI, p. 328) Thornton then got back into the car with Appellant, and they left going towards Lake. (Vol. VI, p. 328) The next day, Detective James Noblitt of the Tampa Police Department was showing around a picture of Lillie Thornton, and McDonald told him what she had seen. (Vol. VI, pp. 329-330; vol. VII, pp. 353-356)

On November 4, officers of the Tampa Police Department had Appellant's residence (which was 1.1 miles from the field where Thornton's body was found) and car under surveillance. (Vol. VII, p 393-394; Vol. IX, pp. 690, 707-708)⁵ At around noon, Detectives Black and Pedersen, who were in plain clothes and unmarked cars, went to relieve Detectives Townley and Holland. (Vol. VII, pp. 394-395) The gray Subaru that was being watched began to move, and the

⁵ The police were able to determine Appellant's address after Kim McDonald supplied them with his name and identified his picture in a photopack. (Vol. VII, pp. 356, 358; Vol. IX, p. 688)

detectives followed in their vehicles. (Vol. VII, pp. 395-396) When Appellant's vehicle accelerated, and it appeared that he had observed the officers and was trying to get away from them, Black placed his blue light on his dashboard and (Vol. VII, p. 397) He and Pedersen motioned for accelerated. Appellant to pull over, and Black was honking the horn as well. (Vol. VII, p. 397) At one point, Appellant did pull over, but then sped up more. (Vol. VII, pp. 397-398) Black pulled his vehicle in front and slowly tapped his brakes to bring Appellant to a stop, but he turned into the FunLan Drive-In and accelerated. (Vol. VII, There Appellant slowed down and jumped out of his car and started running. (Vol. VII, p. 399) Black exited his vehicle, pulled his weapon, and told Appellant to put his hands up and get on the ground, which he did. (Vol. VII, p. 399-400) chased Appellant's car down and stopped it before it could hit a fence at the side of the theater. (Vol. VII, p. 400) handcuffed Appellant and placed him in the back seat of Detective Holland's car. (Vol. VII, pp. 400-402)

When Detective James Noblitt arrived at the FunLan, he observed a reddish-brown stain that appeared to be blood "swiping up and down" on the passenger's side window of the Subaru. (Vol. VII, pp. 360-361) When he moved a black jacket that was on the back seat, he discovered a spent shell casing . (Vol. VII, p. 362) Detective Rick Childers (who had observed Appellant's car

 $^{^6}$ At the suppression hearing before Judge Simms on April 24, 1995, Black testified that he had the blue light on his dashboard, but it was "not activated." (Vol. XIII, p. 1322)

parked outside his residence earlier that day and seen what appeared to be blood on the passenger window, and thought the right front tire of Appellant's car was similar to the tire impression that was on Lillie Thornton's pant leg) went to FunLan and spoke with Appellant, who had not yet been placed under arrest, without reading him his Miranda rights. (Vol. IX, pp. 688-691, 693-700, 714-715, 723) Appellant was not handcuffed when Childers arrived. (Vol. IX, pp. 722-723) Childers told Appellant that he was "working the death of Lillie Thornton, and [Appellant's] name had come up in the investigation[.]" (Vol. IX, p. 694) Childers asked Appellant if he knew Thornton, and he replied that he had known her for about two or three months. (Vol. IX, p. 694) Childers asked whether Appellant had seen her on November 2. (Vol. IX, p. 695) He answered that he had picked her up at her house between 11:30 and 12:00 because she wanted to go pay some bills. (Vol. IX, p. 695) When they got to the area of 34th and Lake, Appellant's car broke down. (Vol. IX, p. 695) Thornton got out of the car and walked toward some mailboxes. (Vol. IX, p. 695) Appellant never saw her again. (Vol. IX, p. 695) He sat with his car until about 6:00 or 6:30, trying to call his brother, Trumell, to help him. (Vol. IX, pp. 695-696) Appellant left messages with his mother, and his brother finally showed up and was able to get the car started. (Vol. IX, p. 697) Appellant drove home, parked, and went to bed at 7:00. (Vol. IX, p. 697) Appellant also told Childers that he had not gone to work that day because his car had broken down, but when

he called work he said that his mother was in the hospital. (Vol. IX, p. 698)

Childers asked Appellant to come to the police station voluntarily and look at some photographs to assist them, but he did not want to. (Vol. IX, pp. 698-699)

When Childers advised Appellant that they were going to seize his car, Appellant did not put up an argument about it. (Vol. IX, p. 699)

Childers approached the Subaru with Appellant and pointed to an area on the passenger's window which appeared to be blood. (Vol. IX, p. 699) Appellant asked where it was on the seat. (Vol. IX, p. 699) Childers said it was not on the seat, and pointed out where it was on the window, but Appellant would not respond. (Vol. IX, p. 699)

Appellant wanted a clothes basket that was in the back hatch area. (Vol. IX, p. 700) Appellant pointed out a bloody T-shirt that was in the basket, saying that he got blood on the shirt when he cut his hand about three weeks before. (Vol. IX, p. 700) Childers told Appellant that he was "not getting basically nothing out of the car." (Vol. IX, p. 700)

Childers noticed that there **was** no carpet in the vehicle. (Vol. IX, pp. 702-703) When he asked Appellant what happened with the carpet, Appellant responded that the car did not have carpet in it when he bought it three or four months before. (Vol. IX, p.

703)⁷ Childers observed that the metal on the floor was not "all scratched up by people getting in and out of the car." (Vol. IX, p. 703) Childers later attempted to locate the carpeting by checking car washes, trash cans, dumpsters, etc. in the areas of Appellant's residence and the crime scene, without success. (Vol. IX, pp. 706-707, 709) Nor did he find any of the carpet, or any remnants, particles or fibers, anywhere in or around Appellant's house when a search warrant was executed. (Vol. IX, pp. 708-709) Childers observed that when he got close to the car at the FunLan, the interior smelled "fantastic." (Vol. IX, pp. 707)

The 380 caliber shell casing was collected by Crime Scene Technician Mike Pozzouli, along with the bloody T-shirt. (Vol. VII, pp. 383-384; Vol. IX, p. 700)

Childers placed Appellant under arrest for murder in the first degree and robbery (because the investigation revealed that Thornton had received a check and was going to pay bills, but no currency or purse was found with the body), and he was taken back to the Tampa Police Department. (Vol. IX, pp. 704, 728-729) Childers searched Appellant and found a small amount of marijuana. (Vol. IX, p. 737)⁸ During his conversation with Childers, Appellant told him that he had consumed three "joints" of marijuana and

⁷ James Ferguson of Bond Auto Sales testified that the Subaru had carpeting in it that was "[s]ort of a silver blue" in color when Ferguson sold the car to Appellant in August of 1994. (Vol. IX, pp. 747-750)

⁸ Detective Black testified that he searched Appellant at the FunLan and did not find any marijuana. (Vol. VII, p. 402)

one and one-half quarts of an alcohol called "Red Bull," or something like that, from the early morning hours to the time of the interview. (Vol. IX, pp. 738, 743)

At the police department, Childers told Appellant that he had not done "a good enough clean-up job on his car," because they had found a spent casing inside it. (Vol. IX, pp. 742-743) Appellant then told Childers that he collected shell casings, and a .22 caliber shell was found in his room when the search warrant was executed, but no shell casing collection. (Vol. VIII, p. 508; Vol. IX, pp. 725-726)

Childers also told Appellant that the police had tire impressions or tire tracks at the scene, which they were going to compare with the tires on Appellant's vehicle, and that "they were similar like fingerprints." (Vol. X, p. 779) Later, in the squad room at the police department, Appellant remarked to Detective Randy Bell that he had bought the tires that were on his car the previous day from a black male at a tire store located at 21st and Nebraska. (Vol. x, p. 773) Appellant said he gave the black male \$50, and there was apparently a problem with making change for the fifty dollar bill. (Vol. X, p. 773) That same day, November 4, Childers became aware of the statements Appellant had made to Bell about the tires, and went to the area of 21st and Nebraska. (Vol. X, p. 780) Childers did not find any tire store at that particular intersection, but inquired of stores at 3201 North Nebraska and

3301 Nebraska, but could not find anyone who sold Appellant the tires. (Vol. X, pp. 780-783)⁹

The Subaru was towed from FunLan to the impound lot of the Tampa Police Department, for later transportation to FDLE for further processing. (Vol. VII, pp. 363-365; Vol. IX, pp. 703-704)

The car was towed to FDLE on November 8, 1994, where Crime Laboratory Analyst Gary McCullough examined it. (Vol. VII, p. 465) Most of the carpeting had been removed, and certain areas of the driver's and front passenger's seats had been cut and removed. (Vol. VII, pp. 467-468) The large red smear on the inside of the passenger's side window, which was dried, tested presumptively positive for blood. (Vol. VII, pp. 470, 488, 493-494) 10 McCullough found a Western Auto receipt in the car dated 11-3-94, showing a time of 8:56 a.m., and a Discount Auto Parts receipt dated the same date, showing a time of 9:18:16. (Vol. VII, p. 471) He also found an Armor All cleaner bottle, a utility knife or carpet knife, a carpet brush, and air freshener in the front passenger foot well (Vol. VII, pp. 473-479) He found a can of carpet stain remover in the rear bench seat. (Vol. VII, pp. 476-478) The carpet brush and knife tested presumptively positive for the presence of

⁹ Childers' testimony in this regard was admitted over a defense hearsay objection. (Vol. X, p. 780)

During his initial testimony, McCullough said that the window was down when the car arrived at FDLE (Vol. VII, p. 470), but was later recalled to correct his testimony by saying that the window was up when the car was brought into FDLE. (Vol. X, 764-767, 769) Appellant unsuccessfully objected when the State sought to admit a photograph of the window in the up position when McCullough was recalled, as it had never been provided to the defense. (Vol. X, pp. 765-766)

blood. (Vol. VII, pp. 482-484) There was an orange or red discoloration on the front passenger seat, as well as on some clothing in the back of the car; these areas tested negative for the presence of blood. (Vol. VII, pp. 491-492) The presumptive tests for blood McCullough ran did "not differentiate insect, animal and human blood." (Vol. VII, p. 493)

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