IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FIJED SID 3 WHITE

JUN 1 1 1997/

JOHNNIE L. NORTON,

Appellant,

Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

Case No. 88,803

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

<u>State</u>, 684 So. 2d 732 (Fla. 1996), did not involve a victim that had been shot in the head.

As in Roberts v. State, 510 So. 2d 885, 888 (Fla. 1987), and Wilson v. State, 493 So. 2d 1019, 1021 (Fla. 1986), "the evidence in this case does not support the conclusion that the murder was the result of a 'spontaneous, blind and unreasoning reaction' to the circumstances leading up to the murder." Rather, there was clearly substantial, competent evidence presented to support a finding of premeditation on the facts of this case, and there is no evidence to support a suggestion that this murder was anything other than premeditated. Therefore, the appellant is not entitled to have his conviction reduced to second degree murder.

<u>ISSUE</u> III

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL AFTER STATE WITNESS DETECTIVE RICK CHILDERS COMMENTED ON APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO TESTIFY AT HIS TRIAL.

The appellant's next issue claims that the trial court should have granted a mistrial during the testimony of state witness Detective Rick Childers, alleging that Childers offered a remark which violated his right to remain silent. However, a review of the transcript clearly demonstrates that the appellant is not entitled to any relief.

It must be noted initially that the appellant's argument as to this issue has not been preserved for appellate review. Once Childers made the suggestion that defense counsel ask his client about the cleaner, the appellant did not object to the comment until after Childers finished testifying. Thus, the objection was not timely so as to preserve this issue for appellate review.

Nixon v, State, 572 So. 2d 1336, 1340-41 (Fla. 1990); Jackson v.

State, 451 So. 2d 458, 461 (Fla. 1984); Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

In addition, the disputed remark was clearly invited by the defense. The relevant exchange occurred when defense counsel was cross examining Childers with regard to Childers' testimony about having observed that the appellant's car did not have carpeting when Childers observed the car on November 4, 1994.

- Q. The receipt says he was at Western Auto and he bought lifter, carpet cleaner, upholstery top brush, right?
 - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And at 9:45 his car is in front of his house, and you're saying at that point the carpets were gone?
- A. The carpet is gone when I see it, yes, sir.
- Q. And there's 30 minutes in between, right?
 - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Well, twenty-nine **and** a few seconds, 9:16 to 9:45. Do you agree that that's the time frame that Johnnie Norton is allegedly accused of taking all the carpets out of his car and disposed of them?
 - A. No, sir.
 - Q. Took them out before?
 - A. No, sir.
 - Q. So why is he buying carpet cleaner?
 - A. That you'll have to ask him.
- Q. So you're not saying he bought carpet cleaners to clean up the carpets?
 - A. No.
- (). He just bought it for some other reason?
 - A. Could be for the seats.
- O. Could be the seat. When you showed him the blood stain on the window, and he said where on the seat is it, and to you that's incriminating, right?
 - A. Yes, sir.
- (T. 711-12). Thus, when defense counsel questioned why the appellant would have bought carpet cleaner if that was the case, Childers advised counsel to ask the appellant. Defense counsel continued to cross examine Childers, and thirty-four transcript pages later, counsel moved for a mistrial, alleging that Childers' remark was an improper comment on the appellant's failure to testify.

On these facts, the appellant is precluded from challenging Childers' response. Any possible error that could be identified by Childers' comment was invited by the defense. It is well established that a party may not make or invite an error at trial and then take advantage of the error on appeal. Terry v. State, 668 So. 2d 954, 962 (Fla. 1996); Thomson v. State, 648 So. 2d 692, 695 (Fla. 1994); Pose v. State, 441 so, 2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983). Although the "invited error" doctrine does not apply if the response given could not have been anticipated and was not responsive to the question asked, this exception is not present in the instant case. Counsel had asked a question to which only the appellant would know the answer. The answer "you' 11 have to ask him" may not have been the exact response defense counsel had in mind, but it was responsive to the question.

Even if the remark itself is considered, the appellant has failed to demonstrate any error. Det. Childers' comment was not reasonably susceptible of being interpreted as a comment on the appellant's failure to testify. Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685, 694 (Fla. 1995) (telling jurors they had heard nothing to create reasonable doubt, in context of argument, was not fairly susceptible of being interpreted as comment on silence); Jackson v. State, 522 So. 2d 802, 807 (Fla.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 871 (1988). Although Childers suggested that defense counsel find out why the appellant bought the carpet cleaner by talking to his

client, defense attorneys are permitted to talk to their clients without putting them on the witness stand. Childers was not suggesting that the appellant should testify; thus, the remark did not highlight the appellant's decision not to take the stand.

When this comment was challenged in a defense motion for a new penalty phase jury, the trial judge noted:

Okay. The court will deny your motion. I might just Say, make in passing this observation about Detective Childers' remark. Mr. Hendrix asked Detective Childers an impossible to answer rhetorical question, provoking Detective Childers to try to probe your clients mind, a question that Detective Childers obviously wouldn't know the answer to, but only asked for effect. And so I think his response was to an open-the-door question, an honest answer to a dishonest question, not a comment on the right to remain silent.

Mr. Hooper [defense counsel]: And quite appropriate had he been ${\bf a}$ lay witness. My point is he's not a lay witness. Thirteen years in homicide, he knows better.

(T. 1032-1033). Defense counsel's concession that this was an appropriate response to the question is cogent. A comment does not become interpreted as a comment on silence just because the witness should have "known better."

The state is permitted to infer that evidence which could only come from the defendant has not been presented where the defense has assumed **a** burden of proof by placing a particular fact in issue, such as offering an affirmative defense. See, <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 575 So. 2d 181, 188 (Fla. 1991); <u>State v. Michaels</u>, 454 So. 2d 560, 562 (Fla. 1984). In this case, the defense was attempting

to use Det. Childers to suggest that it would not have made sense for the appellant to have bought carpet cleaner if he had removed the carpeting from his car. Childers truthfully advised that only the appellant would know why he bought the cleaner. The comment was merely a remark about an affirmative fact the defense was trying to elicit; it was not a remark about the appellant's failure to testify.

In addition, any possible error that could be discerned from Childers' comment would clearly be harmless beyond any reasonable doubt. Heath v. State, 648 So. 2d 660, 663 (Fla. 1994); State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). This was an isolated comment that was obviously not mentioned again during the trial. The comment had little to do with the evidence or the defense presented to the jury. Of course, the jury was thoroughly instructed of the appellant's right not to testify, and that no adverse inference could be drawn from his failure to testify (T. 1018-1019).

Motions for mistrial are addressed to the discretion of the trial court and should only be granted when necessary to ensure that the defendant receives a fair trial. Terry, 668 So. 2d at 962. The facts of this case do not demonstrate an abuse of discretion in the denial of the appellant's motion for mistrial, and no new trial is warranted on this issue.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL DUE TO THE PROSECUTOR'S QUESTIONING OF DET. CHILDERS.

The appellant's next issue criticizes the state for allegedly attempting to elicit hearsay testimony from Det. Childers which the appellant claims undermined his efforts to present his defense. This is another issue which has not been preserved for appellate review. At the time the prosecutor asked Childers whether the appellant's brother, Trumell, had verified the appellant's alibi, defense counsel objected on hearsay grounds, and the objection was sustained (T. 741-742). There was no request for any further relief from the court. Since the appellant did not request the court to instruct the jury to disregard the question, or move for a mistrial, he cannot fault the trial judge for not taking further The appellant's later motion for mistrial based on the action. prosecutor's question was not contemporaneous so as to preserve the issue; the motion was not made until Childers had completed his testimony. Nixon, 572 So. 2d at 1340-41; <u>Jackson</u>, 451 So. 2d at 461. On these facts, this Court should expressly find the appellant's argument on this issue to be procedurally barred.

Even if the appellant's argument is considered, no new trial is warranted by the prosecutor's question to Childers. This issue arose because, on cross examination, defense counsel was pointing out, through Childers, that the appellant's statements at the time

of his arrest were consistent with some of the evidence that had been presented:

- ${\bf Q}$. And he sat down and talked to you, didn't he?
 - A. Yes, sir, he did.
- Q. And a lot of what he told you is consistent with your investigation. For instance, he picked up Lillie to go pay bills. He admits to that, doesn't he?
 - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Okay. He told you he went home and spent the evening at home with his family, didn't he?
 - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And did you interview members of his family?
 - A. Yes, sir.
 - Q. Did they verify that?
- MS. COX: Your Honor, I'm going to object. Well, never mind.

THE COURT: You may answer.

THE WITNESS: Did I verify what, sir? BY MR. HENDRIX:

- Q. That he was at home with his mother and two sisters and father?
 - A. To a time limit,
- Q. A time limit on the front end or back end?
- A. When you say the back end, I say 10:00 time.
- Q. Okay. Hold on. 10:00 is the arrival or the leaving time? He arrived home at 10:00 or left at 10:00?
 - A. When last seen by his sister.
- ${\bf Q}_{\cdot \cdot}$ When last seen by his sister was lo:00.

And your understanding was he left the house at 10:00?

- A. No, the sister left. That's all she can account for.
 - Q. What about the mom and other sister?
 - A. I never talked to the mother.
 - Q. You never talked to the mother?
 - A. No. Other detectives did.
- Q. You never talked to the other sister?

A. No.

(T. 724-25).

Based on this line of questioning, the prosecutor reasonably assumed that she would be permitted to question Childers about whether Trumell had verified the appellant's story. It is apparent that she withdrew her objection to defense counsel's elicitation of hearsay believing that the door was being opened to ask the same question. Even if her assumption was wrong, the mere asking of the question was not unreasonable and certainly not egregious prosecutorial misconduct that vitiated any possibility of a fair trial for the appellant.

The jurors knew that Trumell Norton should have been a key According to the appellant's statements, the appellant was with Trumell the evening that Lillie disappeared, and Trumell could verify that the appellant had had car trouble that day and corroborate the appellant's other alibi witnesses. The prosecutor had elicited through Det. Childers that, after Childers initially interviewed Trumell, Childers was asked to tape Trumell's statement, and Childers starting looking for Trumell and leaving messages for him but he had never been able to find him again (T. 704-706). Defense counsel questioned Childers as to whether Childers was implying that the defense was hiding Trumell, to which Childers responded that he didn't know, it could be the family didn't know where to find Trumell (T. 726-27) .

The appellant's complaint with the prosecutor's question is simply that the question created the inference that Trumell would not verify the appellant's alibi. This inference, however, was already established in this case and furthermore there is nothing improper about such an inference. The same inference could be drawn from the fact that the defense did not present Trumell as a defense witness. See, Michaels, 454 So. 2d at 562 (prosecutor entitled to comment on defense's failure to present a witness particularly available to the defense where defendant had accepted burden of presenting an affirmative defense).

The appellant's reliance on <u>Dawkins v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) for any relief is misplaced. In <u>Dawkins</u>, the prosecutor cross examined the defendant and inquired as to a prior felony conviction. The prosecutor then asked, "You're not supposed to have a firearm, are you, Mr. Dawkins?" clearly implying that the defendant was guilty of an uncharged collateral crime. The prosecutor then emphasized during closing argument that the defendant was not supposed to have a firearm. This is a far cry from what happened in the instant case. Here, there was no direct implication of a collateral crime; only the inferential speculation that, while some members of the appellant's family would verify his alibi, his brother might not.

On these facts, any error in the asking of this question in this case must be deemed harmless beyond any reasonable doubt.

See, <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 522 _{so.} 2d 802 (Fla. 1988) (any impropriety in state questioning defense witness about having been arrested and charged with homicide did not warrant mistrial, where question was not answered, state was attempting to show a specific bias, and witness' testimony did not go to heart of the defense).

Nor is any error suggested by the trial court's overruling the appellant's objection to Det. Childers testimony that he was not able to find anyone that had sold tires to the appellant. "extrajudicial fact" being proven was that the appellant's attempt to explain away potentially incriminating evidence itself indicated consciousness of guilt. In addition, it was proper to demonstrate the thorough nature of the investigation, Childers been extensively cross had examined about investigation of other possible suspects (T. 708-731, 735-737). Furthermore, Childers' testimony was offered as a reasonable conclusion and not a proven fact. Childers did not say that no one sold tires to the appellant; he stated he was unable to verify that the tires had been purchased. He was cross examined about the adequacy of the investigation he conducted in formulating this conclusion, with defense counsel asking who Childers had interviewed and what records, receipts and inventories he had evaluated (T. 781-782).

Det. Childers' testimony that he attempted, unsuccessfully, to verify the appellant's statement was not offered to prove that the

appellant owned the tires on his **car** prior to the day before his arrest; it was offered to established that the appellant gave an unlikely explanation in an attempt to distance himself from possibly inculpatory evidence. Since the statement was offered to prove the weakness of the appellant's explanation rather than the fact of tire ownership, this testimony was not hearsay.

On these facts, the appellant has failed to demonstrate that his untimely motion for mistrial was should have been granted. Any possible error in the state's questioning of Det. Childers would clearly be harmless beyond any reasonable doubt, and certainly would not rise to a level of vitiating the fundamental fairness of the appellant's trial. No new trial is warranted on this issue.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN FAILING TO CONDUCT A <u>RICHARDSON</u> HEARING AFTER THE DEFENSE CALLED HIS ATTENTION TO A DISCOVERY VIOLATION COMMITTED BY THE STATE.

The appellant next contends that a new trial is warranted due to the trial court's failure to conduct a <u>Richardson</u> hearing. Once again, however, this issue has not been preserved for review. Although the appellant now faults the trial judge for allegedly failing to make a satisfactory inquiry when advised of a potential discovery violation, he never complained to the judge about the adequacy of the inquiry that was conducted. He never specifically requested a <u>Richardson</u> hearing, or any further development of the facts involved.

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